Rinsum et al. BMC Health Services Research

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4457-7

RESEARCH ARTICLE

The implementation of the coaching on lifestyle (CooL) intervention: lessons learnt

Celeste van Rinsum^{1*}, Sanne Gerards¹, Geert Rutten², Madelon Johannesma³, Ien van de Goor⁴ and Stef Kremers¹

Abstract

Background: Combined lifestyle interventions (CLIs) are designed to help people who are overweight or obese maintain a healthy new lifestyle. The CooL intervention is a CLI in the Netherlands, in which lifestyle coaches counsel adults and children (and/or their parents) who are obese or at high risk of obesity to achieve a sustained healthier lifestyle. The intervention consists of coaching on lifestyle in group and individual sessions, addressing the topics of physical activity, dietary behaviours, sleep, stress management and behavioural change. The aim of this study was to evaluate the implementation process of the Coaching on Lifestyle (CooL) intervention and its facilitating and impeding factors.

Methods: Mixed methods were used in this action-oriented study. Both quantitative (number of referrals, attendance lists of participants and questionnaires) and qualitative (group and individual interviews, observations, minutes and open questions) data were collected among participants, lifestyle coaches, project group members and other stakeholders. The Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research was used to analyse the data.

Results: CooL was evaluated by stakeholders and participants as an accessible and useful programme, because of its design and content and the lifestyle coaches' approach. However, stakeholders indicated that the lifestyle coaches need to become more familiar in the health care network and public sectors in the Netherlands. Lifestyle coaching is a novel profession and the added value of the lifestyle coach is not always acknowledged by all health care providers. Lifestyle coaches play a crucial role in ensuring the impact of CooL by actively networking, using clear communication materials and creating stakeholders' support and understanding.

Conclusion: The implementation process needs to be strengthened in terms of creating support for and providing clear information about lifestyle coaching. The CooL intervention was implemented in multiple regions, thanks to the efforts of many stakeholders. Lifestyle coaches should engage in networking activities and entrepreneurship to boost the implementation process. It takes considerable time for a lifestyle coach to become fully incorporated in primary care.

Trial registration: NTR6208; date registered: 13–01-2017; retrospectively registered; Netherlands Trial Register.

Keywords: Lifestyle, Coaching, Overweight, Obesity, Combined lifestyle intervention, Implementation process

Background

An increasing proportion of the adult Dutch population is now overweight or obese (49.9 and 14.2%, respectively) [1]. The prevalence of overweight or obesity among children and adolescents has also increased (to 13.3 and 2.8%, respectively, in 2017). Combined lifestyle interventions (CLIs) aim to help people who are

* Correspondence: celeste.vanrinsum@maastrichtuniversity.nl

¹Department of Health Promotion, NUTRIM School of Nutrition and Translational Research in Metabolism, Maastricht University, P.O. Box 616, 6200, MD, Maastricht, The Netherlands overweight or obese change their physical activity level and dietary behaviours and maintain the new healthier lifestyle [2, 3]. However, many interventions have failed to translate research outcomes to real-world settings, due to unsuccessful or incomplete implementation [4, 5]. Implementation of CLIs may benefit from process evaluation, as this provides insight into the implementation process. It also helps to understand the results of the intervention and the success factors influencing both the intervention and its implementation [6].

The implementation process of various types of CLI has been evaluated [7-14]. The results of many studies

© The Author(s). 2019 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

BMC Health Services Research



Open Access

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

show too little multidisciplinary collaboration between important stakeholders, and professionals having insufficient skills and time to give participants the best possible guidance [10, 11, 15, 16]. One important barrier stopping participants from attending CLIs was that health insurers refused to cover all costs [10]. Furthermore, previous studies have shown that long-term coaching is needed to maintain lifestyle changes [2, 12, 17, 18].

The Coaching on Lifestyle (CooL) intervention was developed based on previous research findings and addresses the barriers for implementation, outlined before. In this CLI, lifestyle coaches counsel, in separate groups, children and adults who are obese or at high risk of obesity. A lifestyle coach counsels a group of participants in the longer term, on average for 6 to 8 months. Lifestyle coaching encompasses integrating and addressing all major behavioural areas linked to obesity and lifestyle, i.e. physical activity, dietary behaviours, sleep, stress management and the umbrella topic of behavioural change. The essence of lifestyle coaching does not lie in its focus on the role of the professionals, nor in giving advice or directing participants. Instead it focuses on stimulating participants to take the lead and define their personal goals, guided by means of an autonomy-supportive coaching style of the lifestyle coaches [17]. This means that the coaches first provide some basic knowledge about healthy choices, such as variation of food, conscious eating and portion sizes. Where after, participants can make their own choices and actions, for example going to work by bicycle twice a week. Furthermore, various evidence-based behaviour change techniques and approaches are incorporated in the intervention, such as goal setting, implementation intentions, ownership and peer support (see also [19]). The lifestyle coach can act as a single point of contact for the participants regarding their lifestyle goals. The coach takes on the role of linchpin in the participants' care provider network. The intervention is reimbursed by health insurance companies and therefore free of charge for participants.

Since the trained lifestyle coach is not yet an established professional primary care, a comprehensive implementation evaluation is required, taking into account factors that may be encountered during the implementation process. The research question of the current study was: How was the CooL intervention implemented and what were facilitating and impeding factors?

The results are described using the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR). This framework is a synthesis of existing implementation theories and it includes constructs of effective implementation [4]. These constructs are clustered in five domains, reflecting the characteristics of implementing an intervention. The CFIR was slightly modified to make it suitable to evaluate the CooL intervention (see Fig. 1). The following key



concepts of CFIR were operationalised: the unadapted and adapted intervention (CooL intervention), the process by which implementation is carried out (planning, engaging, executing, reflecting and evaluating), the inner setting (the organisation that implements the intervention: CooL organisation), the outer setting (participants, referrers and context) and the lifestyle coaches who carry out the intervention (defined in CFIR as 'individuals'). A successful implementation process focuses on the use of the intervention by the lifestyle coaches and the inner setting. Changes in the contextual outer setting are assumed to influence both the inner setting and the implementation process. In the outer setting we also refer to stakeholders in the participants' care provider network. It also shows that an intervention may evolve and be adapted to local preferences during the implementation process.

Methods

CooL intervention

The lifestyle coach leads the CooL programme, which consists of individual sessions and group sessions (see Additional file 1: Table S3). The programme targets Dutch-speaking individuals living in the Netherlands, aged 4 years and older, who are obese (BMI \ge 30) or at high risk of obesity (i.e., were overweight (BMI \ge 25) and at increased risk of cardiovascular diseases or type 2 diabetes mellitus) [20–22]. There are separate programmes for children, adolescents and adults. Children and adolescents are described as the same group, because of the small numbers in the programmes. Major themes are physical activity, dietary behaviours, sleep, stress management and behavioural change. The aim is to change

the lifestyle pattern of the participants in a stepwise fashion and to achieve sustainable lifestyle change. If required, after the basic programme each participant can be included in one of additional programmes, namely the relapse prevention programme (group and individual sessions) or the additional programme (only individual sessions). A total of 13 lifestyle coaches, who had completed a postgraduate training course at the Dutch Academy for Lifestyle and Health (AVLEG), were involved in the pilot programme. More information about the content of the programme can be found elsewhere, as well as the methods, techniques and working approaches used in the intervention [19, 23].

The pilot started in two regions in the southern part of the Netherlands with the programme for adults (Regions 1 and 2) and in two other regions for the children's programme Regions 3 and 4) in 2014. During the subsequent pilot period, more regions were added. At the end of the study period, the adult programme was implemented in five regions (Regions 1 and 2 plus Regions 5, 6 and 7) and four children's regions (Regions 3 and 4 plus Regions 2 and 5). The adult participants were mostly referred to CooL by their general practitioners or their practice nurses. The children were mostly referred by the Youth Health Care (YHC) service.

In each region, a project group was responsible for the local implementation of the intervention. These project groups consisted of the central project leader, the lifestyle coaches involved, a coordinator from the local 'health care group' (i.e. coordinating organisation for primary care providers) or from the public health services, a representative of the local sports organisation and a care purchasing agent of the health insurance company. During the final year of the study, the role of project leader, which until then had been the responsibility of an external change agent (who was still available in the background), shifted to the main researcher (CvR). In addition to the project groups, there was a steering group which was responsible for general decisions about the programme, its implementation and the evaluation study. During peer feedback meetings with their supervisor, the lifestyle coaches discussed problems that occurred in the implementation, shared best practices and learned from each other's experiences.

CooL study

The study protocol of the CooL study has been published and presents a detailed description of the study and the methods [23]. The lifestyle changes achieved among CooL participants have been reported in an earlier publication [19]. Briefly, the results showed positive and sustained changes among adults regarding psychological needs, motivation for physical activity and healthy diet, behaviour-specific barriers, physical activity, dietary behaviours, quality of life and weight. The adult participants lost an average of 2.3 kg after completing the CooL intervention. Among children and their parents, few improvements were found regarding behaviours and quality of life. The children's BMI z-score (standardized BMI score) did not differ significantly after the intervention.

The present paper describes the implementation process. Both quantitative and qualitative data were used (see Table 1 for an overview). The overall study was designed as an action-oriented study, implying that results of observations are also used as input to improve the content or implementation process of the intervention [24]. Since the main researcher participated in all organisational meetings, this enabled her to observe and simultaneously support the implementation process. The CFIR framework was used to analyse and cluster the data. Data collection took place between 1 May 2014 and 1 April 2017.

The quantitative measures included the number of referrals, attendance lists of participants, questionnaires for participants about their satisfaction with the intervention and the guidance provided by their lifestyle coach, and questionnaires for lifestyle coaches to assess their competences.

The qualitative methods consisted of group and individual interviews with the participants, lifestyle coaches and other stakeholders, observations and minutes of group sessions and meetings, and a questionnaire with additional process questions. The interview structures were based on various implementation theories [5, 25], adapted to the CooL intervention (see Additional file 2). The interview structures were translated into our coding scheme, while adding additional topics which were concluded out of the interviews. The topics of the interviews were their functioning (interviews with lifestyle coaches and participants), the process of the referral process (interviews with referrers), the implementation process (interviews with project group members and project steering group members) and their opinions about the intervention (interviews with all target groups).

Results

The results are described for each of the domains presented in Fig. 1, based on the CFIR framework. The facilitating and impeding factors are outlined in each domain and are listed in Table 2. For each domain, multiple perspectives are presented, such as those of the lifestyle coaches, project group members, referrers and participants.

Unadapted intervention

At the start of the implementation process, the content of the various programmes was not designed or protocolled in full detail. This left the lifestyle coaches the opportunity to fill in the contents according to their own preferred

Table 1 Study components and methods used, for each domain of the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research

Domain	Evaluation components	Method	Target group	Ν
Intervention	Evolution of the programme	Observations	Peer feedback meetings	13
	Programme fidelity: executed as intended	Interviews	Lifestyle coaches	12
Lifestyle coaches	Competences of lifestyle coaches	Questionnaire	Lifestyle coaches	13
		Questionnaire	Participants	187
	Tasks of lifestyle coaches	Questionnaire	Referrers, project group members, lifestyle coaches and local parties	129
Inner setting	Organisations in the various CooL regions	Weekly telephone meetings	Project leader	72
Outer setting	Number of referrals and attendance rates	Registration lists and attendance lists	Lifestyle coaches	13
	Involvement and opinion of stakeholders	Questionnaire	Referrers, project group members, lifestyle coaches and local parties	129
Process	Experiences with the programme: satisfaction	Questionnaire	Participants	187
		Group interviews	Participants	6
		Interviews	Participants	4
			Referrers	52
			Project group members	14
			Lifestyle coaches	12
	Facilitating and impeding factors for successful implementation during different implementation phases	Interviews	Referrers	52
			Project group members	14
			Lifestyle coaches	12
		Observations and minutes	Project & steering group & peer feedback meetings	107
			Group sessions	28
		Questionnaire	Referrers, project group members, lifestyle coaches and local parties	129

N = number of respondents

working methods. Major topics were established in advance as key elements of the programme (physical activity, dietary behaviours, sleep, stress management and behavioural change). The lifestyle coaches were trained to develop their own programme, based on evidence-based behaviour change approaches, their general coaching styles, specific coaching strategies and knowledge gained in their training course.

Lifestyle coaches

The questionnaire regarding the lifestyle coaches' competences showed that the coaches were significantly more engaged in their work than average Dutch employees [26]. Empathising with others was their strongest competence, which they also indicated as the most important competence for a lifestyle coach. The coaches evaluated entrepreneurship as their weakest competence, but at the same time they thought this was the least important competence to have as a lifestyle coach. The majority of lifestyle coaches appeared to lack these additional skills during the pilot, which impeded the effectiveness of their coaching. During the interviews, the coaches indicated that coaching skills (i.e. skills to enhance participants autonomous motivation and capability to take-up and self-manage a healthy lifestyle) and empathic skills are necessary.

Stakeholders' perspective

The stakeholders of the intervention network, including referrers, project group members, health insurer, lifestyle coaches and local parties (e.g. local sports clubs and neighbourhood sports coaches) most commonly defined the lifestyle coaches' tasks as guiding participants towards a sustained healthier lifestyle, addressing all lifestyle themes (such as physical activity and stress management). When asked for more details, they explained they were referring to creating awareness, transferring knowledge, providing information and advice, intrinsically motivating participants, signalling problems, helping participants set realistic goals, supporting, helping participants to learn new skills, and improving self-management. They also emphasised the importance of having a positive approach, monitoring the process, tailoring the programme and finding a suitable form of physical activity together with each participant. Some of the

Table 2 Facilitating and impeding factors for each domain

Domain	Facilitating factors	Impeding factors	
Lifestyle coaches	 High level of work engagement Empathising with others Good contacts and getting along with the participants High involvement Great enthusiasm Openness Supporting instead of directing participants Patience Confidence in participants Knowledge and skills regarding systematic behaviour change 	 Lack of entrepreneurship Lack of networking skills Not using the professional network for referring 	
Inner setting	 Having project groups Locations in the neighbourhood Support from the health care centre Cooperation between the LSCs 	 No appropriate financial compensation for lifestyle coaches Too many unpaid administrative tasks for lifestyle coaches 	
Outer setting			
Participants	- Low drop-out rates - Intrinsic motivation to change before the start - High self-efficacy to change	 History of multiple failures in trying to lose weight Having other more important problems decreases motivation Financial problems Sense of not fitting in with the group Unsupportive parents regarding changing their child's lifestyle 	
Referrers	 Personal motivation of referrers Referrers' knowledge of and experience with lifestyle coaching and the coaches 	 Perceived lack of time or priority to be involved in the programme Some referrers knew too little about the programme 	
Context	 Expected future coverage of CLIs by health insurance Collaborating with other partners and different disciplines Increased familiarity with the lifestyle coaches and their role 	- Health care professional's unawareness about their role in lifestyle change	
Implementation pr	rocess		
Planning	- Involvement of stakeholders in project groups	- Too little time for implementation to create support among the referrers	
Engaging	- Creating support - Kick-off meetings - Protocols for lifestyle coaches and referrers	- Not having the logistics organised at the start of the implementation	
Executing	 Effective communication and collaboration between lifestyle coaches and referrers Attending more meetings to inform the referrers Articles in local newspapers 	 Time investment for lifestyle coaches, stakeholders and participants Too few personal contacts with referrers Lack of clear communication materials 	
Reflecting and evaluating	 Most participants were satisfied Ensuring well-organised preconditions Having suitable manuals for new lifestyle coaches 	 Too heterogeneous groups and large differences between participants Too much time between contact moments, and between registration and start of the group Too few individual coaching sessions (for children) No ambassador in every region 	
CooL intervention	 Frequent contacts over a period of six months Optimised combination of individual and group sessions Not only focusing on nutrition, but multiple themes including stress and sleep Learning from peers Whole family takes part in the children's programme Home visits for children Participant-centred approach Positive approach aimed at increasing autonomous motivation Knowledge transfer and practical implications for daily life Approach tailored to the participants' needs Flexibility in design and content Easily accessible for participants No charge for participants 	 Inadequate time slots for group sessions Strict inclusion criteria Participant materials with too much text Materials not suitable for non-Dutch speaking persons 	

stakeholders mentioned that lifestyle coaches' tasks also included communicating with referrers, providing them with feedback, referring participants to other professionals and networking with stakeholders.

Inner setting

Financial organisation

The lifestyle coaches, as well as the project group members, had to invest time and money at the start. The health insurance company paid the expenses of the lifestyle coaches in this pilot study. The fees for each individual participant did, however, not cover all the costs for the lifestyle coaches. The meeting time and contact time with absent participants were not included in these fees, nor was the time needed to design the detailed content of the programme and complete portfolios and plans of action. At least eight participants per group were required to break even and make it viable to start a group. For the children's groups, it was not easy to make up a group large enough to cover the costs.

Organisation within regions

In most of the regions, one or two lifestyle coaches were assigned, in which case they both counselled their own groups. In Region 6 the two lifestyle coaches divided the tasks: one coach was responsible for the coaching and the other for the networking and registration of participants. They both experienced this as a good and pleasant task division. In Region 5 the lifestyle coach received administrative support from the local health care group, which helped considerably.

Locations

It was a barrier for participants when the meeting location was not in their immediate neighbourhood. Therefore, the group sessions were held in locations as close to the participants residences as possible, and in rentfree or cheap locations, to minimise the intervention costs. The chosen locations included meeting rooms of the health care groups or the health insurance company, community centres and schools. The children's lifestyle coach of Region 2 was sometimes present at the location of the YHC referrer. This gave the participants the opportunity to immediately plan an intake session (i.e. the first session of the intervention to check the participants' motivation and to investigate their treatment demand).

Outer setting

Participants

During the study period, 494 adults were referred to the CooL intervention, 358 of whom actually started the intervention. A total of 66 adults (18%) dropped out during the programme. The number of referrals of children

and adolescents was 192, 106 of whom started the programme, and 22 (21%) children dropped out.

Participants' characteristics Among the CooL participants, adults had an average BMI of 36.1, while the children had an average BMI z-score of 2.3. The selfreported educational level of the majority of the adults and the children's parents was low or intermediate. The study population had tried to lose weight before, but were unable to maintain this weight loss for more than 1 year. Participants with a low autonomous motivation were more likely to drop out of the programme. The lifestyle coaches noticed during the implementation that the participant's motivation should preferably be checked at the intake session, which made the operationalisation of the inclusion criteria stricter as the pilot progressed. Participants with a higher autonomous motivation were more conscious of their unhealthy behaviours and felt more responsible for them. Overweight parents were less motivated to participate in the programme with their children, compared to parents with a normal weight. In the baseline questionnaire, 15% of the parents answered that it had actually come as a surprise to them that their child's weight was a matter of concern.

Reasons and criteria for not starting There were several reasons why potential participants decided not to attend the programme. The most frequently mentioned reason was lack of motivation (e.g. lack of interest to start with CooL). This appeared to be more often the case for participants with multiple problems, such as diseases, financial problems or mental problems. Another important impeding factor was that some participants did not like to participate in a group. Most children or their parents showed a need for more individual guidance, which was sometimes provided by the lifestyle coaches.

The most common criticism among lifestyle coaches and referrers was the strictness of the inclusion criteria for CooL, particularly for children. When children were obese at a young age, this usually meant there were more problems in the family. We found that in these multi-problem families, lifestyle change is typically not their first priority. Lifestyle coaches reported a preference for a less strict inclusion criterion for weight status.

Referrers

Referrers reported that patients were hard to reach and to motivate for participation in the programme. Furthermore, they saw multiple barriers to taking part in the intervention, especially at the beginning. They were under great pressure of time, and they felt that there was no time or priority for referring patients to the programme. Their awareness of the intervention decreased over time, because they were not referring to it on a regular basis. Professionals who saw the advantage of the intervention and had a passion for prevention referred more patients. It depended on the region and the lifestyle coach's place within the care network whether they received more referrals and support from the referrers. Considerable time went by before referrers became aware of the positive results of the intervention and realised the benefits and relevance of the CooL programme.

Context

The goal of the pilot was to evaluate and further develop the implementation process. The goal for Centraal Ziekenfonds (CZ) health insurance company, was to develop an optimal system for the reimbursement of CLIs by health insurance companies, with the ultimate aim of reducing the health care costs in the longer term. At the time the pilot started, in 2014, obesity care was not a common theme to discuss during consultations in primary care [27]. General practitioners were insufficiently trained to discuss lifestyle with their patients [28]. Health care professionals typically applied a mono-disciplinary approach to their patients, for example physiotherapists mainly tried to improve their musculoskeletal system [29]. Care for patients was fragmented. The idea that obesity should be addressed in an integrated approach did gain some ground, but at a very slow pace [20]. At the local level, the implementation of CooL started in regions where covenants, connections and other arrangements among the care providers already existed and prevention was already on the agenda more explicitly than in many other regions in the country.

The central role of lifestyle coaches In the course of the process, the lifestyle coaches' role as linchpins in obesity care appeared crucial. If lifestyle coaches were part of relatively dense networks (i.e. when they had more ties and connections with stakeholders), this meant that participants were more likely to be referred to these coaches. In any case, referral to CooL was suboptimal and lifestyle coaches should become more visible as an important stakeholder in obesity care.

Changed context Currently, health care professionals and policy makers have become more aware of the importance of lifestyle behaviour for health outcomes [28]. Integrated approaches to the prevention of chronic diseases have become more common over time. In the course of the implementation process it was becoming clearer that CLIs would be included in health insurance policies in the Netherlands from 2019 onwards [30]. This had a positive influence on the motivation of the lifestyle coaches, referrers and other stakeholders. The lifestyle coaches invested more time in describing and detailing the adjusted intervention contents than in the early stages of the pilot. The referrers increasingly perceived CooL as a permanent referral option instead of just another project.

Stakeholders' contributions Most stakeholders (66%) reported themselves as contributing relatively little to the programme; although some stakeholders were relatively active (24%) and a small proportion contributed greatly (10%). The most commonly mentioned reasons to participate were: improving the participants' health (82%); the sense that the programme was a good initiative (70%); collaboration with other disciplines/organisations (33%); and referring people (28%). Furthermore, 46% fully agreed (on a 5-point Likert scale) with the statement that the lifestyle coach represented a useful addition to the health care network and 48% fully agreed that the lifestyle coaching programme was a valuable innovation.

Implementation process Planning

The implementation started with the programme for adults, and involved a small selection of interested general practices. Meanwhile, the sample size was calculated and lifestyle coaches were spread over the regions. When the number of referrals was found to be low, the inclusion period was extended and all general practices in each region were invited to refer patients to CooL. Some practices (2%) declined this invitation, as they did not want to invest time.

Engaging

The lifestyle coaches used kick-off meetings and information provision to referrers during group or individual meetings to try and create more support among the referrers. The referrers received an information package with a flyer for patients and a referral protocol, which presented information on how to sign up patients and what was expected from them. The lifestyle coaches had also been informed about the referral process and the execution of the intervention by means of a protocol.

In the beginning of the pilot programme, the logistics of the intervention had not yet been fully organised at the start of the intervention's implementation. The contacts with stakeholders had already been established before the information was prepared and the programme was finalised. On the one hand, this meant that the information was distributed in phases. On the other hand, the stakeholders could already contribute to the implementation process.

When one of the two programmes had already been implemented in a particular region, the chances were greater that the second programme would be implemented as well (in most cases the children's programme followed the adult programme).

Executing

The referrers indicated during the interviews that they wanted to know who the lifestyle coaches were, and the lifestyle coaches noticed that the referrers had many practical questions. Project groups members therefore pointed out that personal contact was very important to increase the referrers' motivation. This demanded a lot of time investment on the part of the lifestyle coaches. Furthermore, the question remained to what extent the referrers were aware of the programme and the referral process. In each region, newsletters were sent by the health care group or public health services, presenting the most important information and updates.

Reflecting and evaluating

Based on attendance lists, it appeared that the adult participants attended on average 5.3 (\pm 2.3) group sessions and 2.9 (\pm 0.9) hours of individual coaching. Their total programme covered 188.4 (\pm 89.4) days. Children, adolescents and their parents participated in the CooL programme for 229.4 (\pm 128.5) days. They attended 3.8 (\pm 2.6) group sessions and had 4.2 (\pm 1.9) hours of individual sessions.

Evaluation by the participants

On average, the participants were satisfied with the programme, the group sessions, individual sessions and the work of the lifestyle coach. The participants rated the programme at about 8 out of 10 (adults: 8.6; parents: 8.5; children: 7.8). There were a few exceptions. For example, some participants had expected a stricter approach, in which they were told how much to exercise and what to eat. This expectation conflicted directly with the nature of lifestyle coaching, in which the participant is supposed to take the leading role and is in charge of their own goals and corresponding actions.

Most participants perceived the combination of group and individual sessions as pleasant. The individual guidance enabled them to discuss personal problems. The group dynamics in the group sessions linked them to fellow sufferers and familiar problems were discussed. However, some participants reported in the questionnaire that they felt a need for a more personal approach. This remark typically came from participants in larger groups (often larger than ten members) and from participants in groups with persons with special needs (e.g. persons with a mental disorder). This made it harder to give enough personal time and space to all the group members.

In addition, some of the participants wanted to have less written and more practical assignments, for example more assignments with pictures, audio-visual tools and digital materials. These alternatives could replace the text that was used in the materials. Finally, the participants mentioned in the early stage of the pilot programme that they needed refresher sessions to better maintain their changed behaviours.

Lifestyle coaches' perspective

According to the lifestyle coaches, the ideal group size was about ten to twelve participants. In reality, the groups were often smaller, since some of the participants did not always attend. Moreover, it was hard to get enough people for the groups, which made the time between registration and the start of the programme rather long for some participants. It also led to mixed group compositions, with different ages and cognitive skills. Participants could not identify themselves with the other group members when the differences between them were large. The lifestyle coaches argued that it would be desirable to work with more homogeneous groups, so they could easily adjust the content of the programme to the level of the group. The participants could then learn more from each other and the group process would improve. Furthermore, the lifestyle coaches perceived the home visits for children and their parents as valuable, as it made their daily lives and behavioural patterns more visible and could be discussed more easily.

Project groups

The implementation process was discussed at every monthly project group meeting in each region. If the implementation was not yet successful, new actions were instigated to improve the information available among the stakeholders. In the early stage of the pilot, the project group members noticed that the division of roles and expectations was not clear to all of them. In some cases, it was unclear who was responsible for which tasks, such as arranging the location for the group sessions. Another observation was that the project leaders were often geographically far removed from the pilot region and that they were not familiar with the stakeholders in the networks.

Adapted intervention

The core components of the programme were the sessions with their fixed themes (see Additional file 1: Table S3), as well as appointing one lifestyle coach to each group. The themes were sometimes presented in a different order and the contents were adapted to meet the needs of the group. The exact content and the practical exercises were part of the 'adaptable periphery' of the intervention protocol. In the unadapted intervention, the lifestyle coaches started with their own custom-made content and exercises. During the course of the implementation process, the lifestyle coaches shaped and finalised the content based on their professional knowledge, their experience, feedback from the participants, evaluation sessions with other lifestyle coaches and interim findings from the current action-oriented study. They exchanged practical exercises and assignments for the group sessions during peer feedback meetings. Gradually during the study period, they combined their best practices into a final programme format. A document was produced which described the goals and multiple examples of exercises for each group session, to support lifestyle coaches in designing sessions for their own groups and in their own context. When the intervention document was being drafted, the coaches were invited to substantiate the programme with underlying theories, strategies and applications [31].

Discussion

The aim of this study was to examine the implementation process of the CooL intervention and its facilitating and impeding factors. We found that the principles that contributed most to the successful implementation of CooL were: having one professional (the lifestyle coach) for multiple lifestyle-related themes, offering a combination of group and individual sessions for adults, the family approach for children, a high frequency of sessions, easy accessibility for participants and the fact that the programme was offered free of charge. Impeding aspects for the intervention were the strict inclusion criteria and small group sizes. Crucial factors for lifestyle coaches included empathising with the participants and having a high work engagement. Impeding factors for the lifestyle coaches were a lack of networking skills and entrepreneurship. The most important facilitating factors for the inner setting (i.e. the CooL organisation) were the project groups and close proximity of the intervention location. CooL participants were more likely to participate when they had a strong intrinsic motivation to change. Factors that make it less likely for people to participate or to complete the programme included not fitting in with the group and having financial constraints. As regards the outer setting, the contacts between lifestyle coaches and their network were crucial. Greater familiarity with and a positive attitude towards the lifestyle coaches' role among the stakeholders were necessary for effective implementation. It helped if the coaches were able to strengthen their network to ensure optimal referral of participants.

Effective implementation starts by creating support among stakeholders, such as referrers. Since the role of lifestyle coach is a new one in the health care system, it has not yet become very familiar. Therefore, we recommend that the central role of the lifestyle coach is more clearly positioned in the integrated approach to obesity. Above all, personal contacts are crucial, and intensive collaboration between coaches and other professionals will help increase their familiarity and trust among other network members [32]. A trend towards increased motivation of referrers was observed towards the end of the pilot period.

If more stakeholders support the intervention, they will probably contribute more effectively to accelerating the recruitment of participants. Slow recruitment processes have also been found in other studies [7, 33] and this remains an issue of concern. An important cause of the low number of referrals was the lack of clear communication materials for the referrers. In combination with the low frequency of personal contacts with referrers, this meant that not all referrers had sufficient knowledge about the intervention, about their specific role in the process and about how to refer patients. More contacts and better information could probably take away the barriers from the referrers, such as the time investment required for referring [34]. Since general practitioners are not trained to assess a patient's motivation, they should be assisted by the lifestyle coaches to make this assessment [35]. The fact that the costs of CLIs are expected to be covered by health insurance may help to institutionalise the referral process [30]. If lifestyle coaches informed the referrers more effectively about the participants' progress, referrers might take a more positive view of the programme [36, 37].

Investment in the contacts among the stakeholders could make the relationships sustainable, with help from an 'ambassador' or a broker [16, 38]. Such an ambassador should be in close contact with the stakeholders in the region and can probably take over some of the networking and entrepreneurial tasks from the lifestyle coach, if this person is not the lifestyle coach. The role could be filled by the lifestyle coach, a local project leader, someone from a central organisation (e.g. a health care group) or a central person in the network of public health and health care (e.g. a health broker [39]).

Extensive preparation and implementation time are needed to create support among the stakeholders to engage them with the program and to create an optimal intervention context. This is often underestimated. Depending on the characteristics of the context, it can take up to a few years [40].

The autonomous motivation to change has been shown to be crucial for the attendance of participants as well as for intervention effects [16, 41]. People differ in their readiness to change their unhealthy behaviour. This depends on their previous experiences [42] and the extent to which they experience the negative effects of their current behaviour. In order to increase this autonomous motivation the lifestyle coach uses methods such as motivational interviewing [43].

Strengths and limitations of the study

Strengths of this study were its action-oriented approach, the real-world setting in different regions and the use of several implementation process methods and instruments. Thanks to the action-oriented approach, the collaboration between the lifestyle coaches and the researchers was good and the implementation process could be closely followed and improved when needed. Implementing an intervention in a real-world setting is always complex, due to contextual and systemic processes [44]. But the chances of achieving sustainability of the CooL intervention and its nation-wide dissemination are probably greater than if the pilot had been accompanied by a controlled trial [45]. Another added value of this study was the use of mixed methods, which gave us information from different points of view, viz. those of the stakeholders, lifestyle coaches, researchers and participants.

The lifestyle coaches constantly adjusted and adapted the CooL programme to the participants' needs during the study period. They worked in their own way, but used the same themes, general principles and way of thinking. These programme changes and the different ways in which it was executed made it impossible to measure the programme fidelity among the lifestyle coaches. This may be viewed as a limitation, but in line with basic assumptions underlying the CFIR for evaluating interventions in complex systems [46, 47], we postulate that adaptation is desirable and promoting complete programme fidelity may even be harmful (Schaap et al., unpublished observations). A limitation of this study is that the data were not analysed with qualitative software programmes, such as Nvivo. The amount of data and the different types of qualitative data (ranging from observations and minutes of meetings to semi-structured interviews) prevented us from adopting a computerised approach to the analyses.

Conclusions

The aim of this study was to examine the implementation process of the CooL intervention and its facilitating and impeding factors. A substantial number of barriers have been overcome and promising opportunities have arisen for integrating lifestyle coaching in a broader approach, to bridge the gap between prevention and treatment of chronic diseases. However, the dissemination process of CooL still needs to be improved further. Networking activities should be intensified and the contents of the intervention continuously improved to fit both the inner and outer implementation settings. It will take time before the lifestyle coaches have become accepted as valuable professionals who bridge the gap between the public health sector and health care settings. We expect our recommendations to be helpful in improving the dissemination and monitoring of combined lifestyle interventions.

Additional files

Additional file 1: Table S3. Number of sessions per target group and per programme, and themes per group session. (DOCX 15 kb) Additional file 2: Interview guides. (DOCX 28 kb)

Abbreviations

CFIR: Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research; CLI: Combined lifestyle interventions; CooL: Coaching on Lifestyle; YHC: Youth Health Care

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank all lifestyle coaches who participated in the pilot study, with special thanks to Ester Janssen and Nicole Philippens. In addition, we would like to thank Koen Kasper, health care groups, general practitioners, other stakeholders and participants for their assistance and effort in this study.

Authors' contributions

CvR carried out the study, analysed the data and drafted the manuscript. SG and SK helped draft the manuscript. GR, MJ and IvdG read the manuscript, provided feedback and approved it. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

The CooL study was funded by Centraal Ziekenfonds (CZ) health insurance company (Project no. 20140052). CZ initiated the process of developing CooL. They were not involved in the execution of the programme, nor did they had an influence in the data analysis.

Availability of data and materials

The questionnaires and interview data are available in Dutch from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

This study was exempt from review by a research ethics committee, as it does not fall within the scope of the Dutch Medical Research Involving Human Subjects Act (Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects (CCMO), 2015). All participants were asked to sign an informed consent form when they entered the study. Parents signed this form for their child. All interviewees gave a verbal permission to audio-record the interviews.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Author details

¹Department of Health Promotion, NUTRIM School of Nutrition and Translational Research in Metabolism, Maastricht University, P.O. Box 616, 6200, MD, Maastricht, The Netherlands. ²Faculty of Sciences and Engineering, University College Venlo, Maastricht University, P.O. Box 8, 5900, AA, Venlo, The Netherlands. ³Health Insurance Company CZ, P.O. 90152, 5000, LD, Tilburg, The Netherlands. ⁴Department Tranzo, Tilburg School of Social and Behavioral Sciences, Tilburg University, P.O. Box 90153, 5000, LE, Tilburg, The Netherlands.

Received: 27 August 2018 Accepted: 25 August 2019 Published online: 14 September 2019

References

- Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek. Lengte en gewicht van personen, ondergewicht en overgewicht; vanaf 1981 [Height and weight of persons, underweight and overweight; since 1981]. Den Haag/Heerlen:2018 https:// opendata.cbs.nl/#/CBS/nl/dataset/81565NED/table?ts=1530885747034. Accessed 6 Jul 2018.
- Brown T, Avenell A, Edmunds LD, Moore H, Whittaker V, Avery L, et al. Systematic review of long-term lifestyle interventions to prevent weight gain and morbidity in adults. Obes Rev. 2009;10(6):627–38.

- Tuomilehto J, Lindström J, Eriksson JG, Valle TT, Hämäläinen H, Ilanne-Parikka P, et al. Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. New Eng J Med. 2001; 344(18):1343–50.
- Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. Implement Sci. 2009;4(1):50.
- Fleuren M, Wiefferink K, Paulussen T. Determinants of innovation within health care organizations: literature review and Delphi study. Int J Qual Health Care. 2004;16:107–23.
- De Meij JS, van der Wal MF, van Mechelen W, Chinapaw MJ. A mixed methods process evaluation of the implementation of JUMP-in, a multilevel school-based intervention aimed at physical activity promotion. Health Promot Pract. 2013;14(5):777–90.
- Carroll J, Winters P, Fiscella K, Williams G, Bauch J, Clark L, et al. Process evaluation of practice-based diabetes prevention programs: what are the implementation challenges? Diabetes Educ. 2015;41(3):271–9.
- Teuscher D, Bukman AJ, van Baak MA, Feskens EJM, Renes RJ, Meershoek A. A lifestyle intervention study targeting individuals with low socioeconomic status of different ethnic origins: important aspects for successful implementation. BMC Public Health. 2017;18(1):54.
- Barte JCM, Hendriks MRC, Rutten G, Veenhof C, Bemelmans WJE. Implementation of the 'BeweegKuur' in practice: utilization of care of a lifestyle intervention in the Netherlands. Int J Health Promot Educ. 2014; 52(4):222–8.
- Helmink JH, Kremers SP, Van Boekel LC, Van Brussel-Visser FN, Preller L, De Vries NK. The BeweegKuur programme: a qualitative study of promoting and impeding factors for successful implementation of a primary health care lifestyle intervention for overweight and obese people. Fam Pract. 2012;29(Suppl 1):i68–74.
- Berendsen BA, Kremers SP, Savelberg HH, Schaper NC, Hendriks MR. The implementation and sustainability of a combined lifestyle intervention in primary care: mixed method process evaluation. BMC Fam Pract. 2015;16(1):37.
- Lucas PJ, Curtis-Tyler K, Arai L, Stapley S, Fagg J, Roberts H. What works in practice: user and provider perspectives on the acceptability, affordability, implementation, and impact of a family-based intervention for child overweight and obesity delivered at scale. BMC Public Health. 2014;14(1):614.
- Niemer S, Bruggers C, Van den Eynde E. LEFF 2013 t/m 2015 Een beschrijving van de ontwikkeling, uitvoering en eerste resultaten van LEFF in Nederland [LEFF 2013–2015 - a description of the development, implementation and first results of LEFF in the Netherlands]. Amsterdam: Care for Obesity & Vrije Universiteit; 2015.
- Bozack A, Millstein S, Garcel JM, Kelly K, Ruberto R, Weiss L. Implementation and outcomes of the New York state YMCA diabetes prevention program: a multisite community-based translation, 2010-2012. Prev Chronic Dis. 2014;11:E115.
- 15. Hamberg-van Reenen HH, Mikolajczak J, Post NAM, Barte JCM. Inventarisatie leefstijlinterventies en ondersteuningsaanbod zorgprofessionals in de diabeteszorg. Twee projecten in het kader van het Nationaal Actieprogramma diabetes [survey of lifestyle interventions and support offered by health care professionals in diabetes care. Two projects of the Dutch National Action programme on diabetes]. Bilthoven: Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu, 2011.
- Preller L, Schaars D. Generieke werkzame elementen van Gecombineerde leefstijlinterventies en duurzame uitvoerbaarheid [generic effective components of combined lifestyle interventions and sustainable feasibility]. Ede: Kenniscentrum Sport; 2016.
- Rutten GM, Meis JJ, Hendriks MR, Hamers FJ, Veenhof C, Kremers SP. The contribution of lifestyle coaching of overweight patients in primary care to more autonomous motivation for physical activity and healthy dietary behaviour: results of a longitudinal study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2014;11:86.
- Wu T, Gao X, Chen M, van Dam RM. Long-term effectiveness of diet-plusexercise interventions vs. diet-only interventions for weight loss: a metaanalysis. Obes Rev. 2009;10(3):313–23.
- Van Rinsum CE, Gerards SMPL, Rutten GM, Philippens NML, Janssen EMJ, Winkens B, et al. The coaching on lifestyle (CooL) intervention for overweight and obesity: a longitudinal study into participants' lifestyle changes. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(4):680.
- Partnerschap Overgewicht Nederland. Zorgstandaard Obesitas [Care Guidelines for Obesity]. Amsterdam: Partnerschap Overgewicht Nederland; 2010.

- 22. Platform Vitale Vaten. Zorgstandaard Cardiovasculair Risicomanagement [Care Guidelines for Cardiovascular Risk Management]. Den Haag: Hartstichting; 2013.
- Van Rinsum CE, Gerards SMPL, Rutten GM, Van de Goor LAM, Kremers SPJ. The coaching on lifestyle (CooL) intervention for obesity, a study protocol for an action-oriented mixed-methods study. BMC Public Health. 2018;18(1): 117.
- 24. Small SA, Uttal L. Action-oriented research: strategies for engaged scholarship. J Marriage Fam. 2005;67(4):936–48.
- 25. Rogers EM. Diffusion of innovations. New York: Free Press; 2003.
- Schaufeli W, Bakker A. Voorlopige handleiding Utrechtse bevlogenheidsschaal (UBES) [provisional instruction manual Utrecht's work engagement scale (UWES)]. Utrecht: Universiteit Utrecht; 2003.
- Van Dillen SME, van Binsbergen JJ, Koelen MA, Hiddink GJ. Nutrition and physical activity guidance practices in general practice: a critical review. Patient Educ Couns. 2013;90(2):155–69.
- Van Dam-Nolen DHK. Voeding en leefstijl in de opleiding geneeskunde: een overzicht [Nutrition and lifestyle in medical education: an overview]. Den Haag: Ministerie van Volksgezondheid, Welzijn en Sport; 2017.
- Leemrijse C, Veenhof C, Dekker J. Inventarisatie van onderzoeksprioriteiten voor de fysiotherapie [survey of research priorities for physiotherapy]. Utrecht: NIVEL; 2012.
- Herziening Zorgstelsel: Brief van de Minister voor Medische Zorg [Revision of Dutch health care system: Letter from the Minister for Medical Care], Kamerstuk 29 689 (nr. 909) (2018).
- Bartholomew Eldredge LK, Markham CM, Ruiter RAC, Fernández ME, Kok G, Parcel GS. Planning health promotion programs: an intervention mapping approach. 4th ed. Hoboken: Wiley; 2016.
- Lau R, Stevenson F, Ong BN, Dziedzic K, Treweek S, Eldridge S, et al. Achieving change in primary care - causes of the evidence to practice gap: systematic reviews of reviews. Implement Sci. 2016;11(1):40.
- Gerards SMPL. Childhood obesity prevention. Rationale, implementation and effectiveness of the lifestyle triple P intervention. [PhD dissertation]. Maastricht: Maastricht University; 2014.
- 34. Van Dongen EJ, Duijzer G, Jansen SC, Ter Beek J, Huijg JM, Leerlooijer JN, et al. Process evaluation of a randomised controlled trial of a diabetes prevention intervention in Dutch primary health care: the SLIMMER study. Public Health Nutr. 2016;19(16):3027–38.
- Bouma AJ, van Wilgen P, Baarveld F, Lemmink KAPM, Diercks RL, Dijkstra A. A cross-sectional analysis of motivation and decision making in referrals to lifestyle interventions by primary care general practitioners: a call for guidance. Am J Lifestyle Med. 2017;13(3):301–11.
- 36. Rogers EM. Diffusion of preventive innovations. Addict Behav. 2002;27(6):989-93.
- Kim KK, Yeong L-L, Caterson ID, Harris MF. Analysis of factors influencing general practitioners' decision to refer obese patients in Australia: a qualitative study. BMC Fam Pract. 2015;16(1):45.
- Long JC, Cunningham FC, Braithwaite J. Bridges, brokers and boundary spanners in collaborative networks: a systematic review. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13(1):158.
- Van Rinsum CE, Gerards SMPL, Rutten GM, Van de Goor IAM, Kremers SPJ. Health brokers: how can they help Deal with the wickedness of public health problems? Biomed Res Int. 2017;2017:10.
- 40. Durlak JA, DuPre EP. Implementation matters: a review of research on the influence of implementation on program outcomes and the factors affecting implementation. Am J Community Psychol. 2008;41(3):327.
- Buratta L, Reginato E, Ranucci C, Pippi R, Aiello C, Sbroma Tomaro E, et al. Stage of change and motivation to a healthier lifestyle before and after an intensive lifestyle intervention. J Obes. 2016;2016:7.
- 42. Ceccarini M, Borrello M, Pietrabissa G, Manzoni GM, Castelnuovo G. Assessing motivation and readiness to change for weight management and control: an in-depth evaluation of three sets of instruments. Front Psychol. 2015;6:511.
- 43. Rubak S, Sandbæk A, Lauritzen T, Christensen B. Motivational interviewing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Gen Pract. 2005;55(513):305–12.
- Hendriks AM, Jansen MW, Gubbels JS, De Vries NK, Paulussen T, Kremers SP. Proposing a conceptual framework for integrated local public health policy, applied to childhood obesity - the behavior change ball. Implement Sci. 2013;8:46.

- Rutter H, Savona N, Glonti K, Bibby J, Cummins S, Finegood DT, et al. The need for a complex systems model of evidence for public health. Lancet (London, England). 2017;390(10112):2602–4.
- Hawe P, Shiell A, Riley T. Theorising interventions as events in systems. Am J Community Psychol. 2009;43(3–4):267–76.
- Moore GF, Audrey S, Barker M, Bond L, Bonell C, Hardeman W, et al. Process evaluation of complex interventions: Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ. 2015;350:h1258.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions

